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1. Introduction 
1.1 Background 
Against the backdrop of recent calls for enhanced corporate reporting, this publication explores 
ways of making IFRS financial statements more effective in communicating relevant financial 
information and, therefore, improving their overall understandability for users.  

Standard setters and regulators, such as the IASB and the FASB, have identified room for 
improvement in current financial reporting practices in three areas: 

• In some instances, irrelevant information is being disclosed 

• Not all relevant information is being provided in all circumstances 

• Relevant information provided is not always effectively communicated 

In announcing plans to prioritise “Better Communication” in the next five years, Hans 
Hoogervorst, the Chairman of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB or the Board) 
identified a fourth challenge: the increasing use of alternative performance measures (APMs) in 
financial reports. 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity  IASB, FASB and ESMA 

 “Valuable information gets drowned out by 
‘tick the box’ disclosures and voluminous, but 
poorly organised and presented financial data. 
Increasingly, preparers present their investors 
alternative performance measures, which are 
not based on IFRS Standards. (…) For the 
investor, it is often difficult to see the woods 
through the multitude of information trees.”1 

For a number of years standard setters and 
regulators as well as preparers and users of 
financial statements have been discussing how 
to make financial statements more effective. 
The IASB is undertaking a broad-based 
initiative to explore how disclosures in IFRS 
financial reporting can be improved. The US 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
has engaged in similar projects, and regulators 
are turning their attention to disclosure 
effectiveness in their enforcement priorities.  

Under the central theme “Better Communication” 
the IASB is currently undertaking two main projects: 

• Disclosure Initiative – The IASB explores how 
disclosures in IFRS financial reporting can be 
improved. 

• Primary Financial Statements – The IASB 
examines possible changes to the structure and 
content of the primary financial statements. 

The FASB has launched a Disclosure Framework 
project to improve the effectiveness of disclosures 
in the notes to financial statements.  

The European Securities and Markets Authority 
(ESMA) published in 2015 a statement on 
Improving the quality of disclosures in the financial 
statements.  

Please refer to Chapter 1.3 for further details on 
these initiatives. 

 

  

                                                   
1 “Better Communication”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Features/Pages/Hans-Hoogervorst-better-
communication.aspx. 
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Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - International Integrated 
Reporting Framework (IIRC) 

 At the same time, there is also a debate on 
how to enhance the understandability of 
information in corporate reporting to 
facilitate the evaluation of entities’ long-
term value creation. These efforts include, 
but are not limited to, initiatives by the 
International Integrated Reporting Council 
(IIRC). The focus of this debate is broader, 
encompassing other types of management 
reporting, such as environmental, social and 
governance reports. 

We recognise that there is an overlap 
between the narrow debate on 
communication effectiveness in financial 
statements and the broader debate on 
corporate reporting quality, in terms of 
objectives, challenges and proposed 
solutions. We support a broad approach 
when addressing the effectiveness of 
corporate reporting practices and we 
acknowledge that technological 
developments (e.g., XBRL) enable new 
means of reporting and new ways of using 
the information in corporate reporting. 
These developments will lead to more 
cohesive and enhanced information in  
the future, clearly showing the links and 
interactions between all sources of 
corporate data. Nevertheless, the focus of 
this publication remains the general purpose 
financial statements as defined under IFRS. 

The IIRC has published the International Integrated 
Reporting Framework (IIRF) which outlines a 
broader perspective of integrated corporate 
reporting on value creation over time and related 
communications. It promotes principles and 
concepts that are focused on greater cohesion and 
efficiency in the reporting process and adopting 
integrated thinking as a way of breaking down 
internal silos and reducing duplication. 
Furthermore, it aims to improve the quality of 
information available to providers of financial 
capital to enable more efficient and productive 
allocation of capital.  

 

  

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - Extensible Business 
Reporting Language (XBRL) 

 

XBRL1 is an international standard for digital 
business reporting and provides a language in 
which reporting terms can be authoritatively 
defined. XBRL simplifies the data exchange 
between entities and its stakeholders (i.e., 
shareholders, lenders, analysts, regulators, tax 
authorities, etc.) by digitalising and standardising 
relevant data. It makes reporting faster and more 
accurate and thus more efficient. Several 
regulators already require issuers to file financial 
reports using XBRL, including the US Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC). 

 

1.2 About the publication 
This publication draws on recent discussions in the field of financial reporting as well as efforts 
made by reporting entities to try innovative ways to improve disclosure effectiveness2. 
Interestingly, it seems that efforts to enhance communication through improved disclosure 
effectiveness tend to be jurisdiction-specific. In certain geographical areas, like Australia and 
some parts of Europe, disclosure effectiveness seems to be a higher priority than in other  
areas. The reasons for this may be manifold; in some jurisdictions entities seem to be primarily 
compliance focused whereas in other jurisdictions financial statements may be viewed more  
as a way to effectively communicate relevant financial information to users. 

Extracts from financial reports presented in this publication are reproduced for illustrative 
purposes. They have not been subject to any review on compliance with IFRS or any other 
requirements such as local capital market rules. The publication documents different practices 
that entities have developed and adopted to “tell their story”. As such, the extracts presented in 
this publication are not intended to represent “best practice”. Rather, the extracts presented in 
this publication illustrate the diversity in practice, which reinforces the notion that the ongoing 
initiatives of standards-setters and regulators worldwide are necessary and timely. Readers  
are advised to carefully consider requirements in current IFRS, as well as any jurisdictional 
requirements and restrictions, before adopting any of the practices contained in extracts in  
this publication. 

                                                   
2 See Appendix B. 



 February 2017 – Enhancing communication effectiveness 4 

Finally, we remind readers that the extracts presented should be read in conjunction with the 
rest of the information provided in the financial statements in order to understand their intended 
purpose. 

Chapter 2, Restructuring the financial statements, focuses on how financial statement 
information is presented and disclosed. It explores a number of proposals relating to the 
structure and presentation of the financial statements. Many of these proposals require 
relatively modest efforts, but demonstrate that, sometimes, a few limited changes can  
make a big difference. 

In Chapter 3, Tailoring the financial statements, the focus is on what information is presented 
and disclosed in the financial statements. It contains a number of examples that demonstrate  
the tailoring of financial statement information. 

In Chapter 4, Challenges in enhancing documentation effectiveness, considers the importance of 
clear management vision in the restructuring and tailoring of financial statements, as well as the 
use of a variety of entity resources. Indeed, significant management judgement is required to 
identify which are the most effective measures to use.  

Appendix A contains a list of standard-setter and regulatory financial statement communication 
initiatives. Appendix B lists the sources of the extracts included in the publication.  

Applying the concept of materiality is critical in tailoring the financial statements. An 
inappropriate materiality assessment can lead to immaterial information cluttering financial 
statements, making them less understandable and obscuring material information. Nevertheless, 
this publication does not specifically address materiality. As explained above, the IASB is 
currently developing more detailed guidance on the application of materiality as part of its 
Disclosure Initiative project.  

1.3 Initiatives by standard setters and regulators 
In an attempt to seek ways to enhance disclosure effectivness in both financial statements and 
corporate reporting, in general, standard setters and regulators have undertaken several 
initiatives. The IASB, for example, has begun a broad-based Better Communication project to 
explore options on how to improve disclosures in IFRS financial statements. This will include the 
work on the following initiatives: 

• The IASB Disclosure Initiative3 aims to address how disclosures in IFRS financial statements 
can be improved. It began with a discussion forum in January 2013. Following this, a 
number of short and longer-term projects have been initiated. The major projects are, as 
follows:  

• Narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – In 2014 the 
IASB made some narrow-scope amendments in IAS 1 to help entities with the 
application of judgement when preparing their financial statements. 

• Materiality – The IASB is developing guidance on the application of materiality.4  
In 2015, an exposure draft of a Practice Statement5 on materiality was published. The 
Practice Statement is expected to discuss the general characteristics of materiality and 
provide guidance to help management make judgements about materiality when 
deciding how to present and disclose information in the financial statements. The IASB 
is expected to finalise it in 2017. 

 

                                                   
3 ”Disclosure Initiative”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-6Projects/Disclosure-
Initiative/Pages/Disclosure-Initiative.aspx. 
4 ”Materiality Practice Statement”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-Projects/Disclosure-
Initiative/Materiality/Pages/Home.aspx. 
5 A Practice Statement is not a standard and its application is not required to state compliance with IFRS.  



5 February 2017 – Enhancing communication effectiveness  

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity – IASB - Primary Financial 
Statements 

 • Principles of Disclosure – This project6 
seeks to develop a set of overarching 
principles for disclosures. The focus is  
on the general disclosure requirements in 
IAS 1. The IASB plans to publish a 
discussion paper in 2017. 

• Standards-level review of disclosures - The 
objective of this project7 is to develop a 
drafting guide for the Board to use when 
setting disclosure requirements in new 
and amended standards. The project  
may also identify disclosure requirements 
in existing standards that may be 
reconsidered to improve disclosure 
effectiveness. 

• While the focus of the Disclosure Initiative 
is on disclosures, the IASB is also 
examining possible changes to the 
structure and content of the primary 
financial statements in a separate project  
on Primary Financial Statements.8 

The FASB has engaged in a similar Disclosure 
Framework project9 which aims to improve the 
effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to 
financial statements by clearly communicating 
the information that is most important to users 
of the financial statements. 

The FASB also has a research project10 
underway to evaluate ways to improve financial 
performance reporting by presenting items in 
the income statement that may affect the 
amount, timing and uncertainty of an entity’s 
cash flows. 

In the project on Primary Financial Statements, the 
IASB is conducting research in the following areas: 
• The structure of the statement(s) of financial 

performance, including whether entities should 
be required to include defined subtotals for 
operating profit and the use of alternative 
performance measures1; 

• The merits of potential changes in the statement 
of cash flows and the statement of financial 
position; and 

• Determining the implications of digital reporting 
for the structure and content of the primary 
financial statements. 

 

  

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FASB – Disclosure 
framework 

 

The following are the major elements of the FASB 
Disclosure Framework project: 
• Assist the FASB Board in its considerations  

when developing new disclosure requirements 
and evaluating existing ones; 

• Promote the use of discretion by reporting 
entities when evaluating the requirements as  
set forth by the FASB Board; 

• Amend the US GAAP Conceptual Framework  
to clarify the concept of materiality; and 

• Apply the proposed concepts in reviewing 
certain topic specific disclosures. 

 

 
As mentioned above, regulators are turning their attention to disclosure effectiveness in their 
enforcement practices. For example, the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) 
published a statement on Improving the quality of disclosures in the financial statements11 in 
October 2015. ESMA proposes the following principles/objectives for disclosures: 

• Tell the entity’s own story 

• Provide relevant information in the financial statements in an easily accessible way 

                                                   
6 ”Principles of Disclosure”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-Projects/Disclosure-
Initiative/Principles-of-Disclosure/Pages/Home.aspx. 
7 ”Standards-level review of disclosures”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-
Projects/standards-level-review-of-disclosure/Pages/default.aspx,. 
8 ”Primary financial statements”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-Projects/Performance-
Reporting/Pages/default.aspx. 
9 ”Disclosure Framework”, FASB website, http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/FASBContent_C/ 
ProjectUpdatePage&cid=1176156344894. 
10 ”Financial Performing Reporting”, FASB website, 
http://www.fasb.org/cs/ContentServer?c=FASBContent_C&pagename=FASB%2FFASBContent_C%2FProjectUpdateP
age&cid=1176164178963. 
11 ESMA Public Statement No. 2015/ESMA/1609, Improving the quality of disclosures in the financial statements, 
European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA), 27 October 2015 (accessed via 
https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/2015/11/2015-esma-1609_esma_public_statement_-
_improving_disclosures.pdf).  
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• Think about materiality 

• Promote readability of the financial statements 

• Provide consistency between information in the financial statements and information 
included in accompanying documents 

The US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is reviewing its disclosure requirements. Its 
disclosure effectiveness initiative is focused on evaluating existing disclosure rules to improve 
the communication of material information to investors. 

For information on other standard setter and regulatory initiatives in the area of communication 
effectiveness, please see Appendix A.  
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2. Restructuring the financial statements 
The conventional structure of financial statements has been identified as one of the root causes 
of the problems with financial reporting. As such, it has been suggested that communication 
effectiveness can be increased by restructuring the financial statements. This chapter explores 
some of these suggestions in five sections: 

2.1 Improving navigation in financial statements 
2.2 Re-ordering the notes  
2.3 Improving disclosures of significant accounting policies  
2.4 Strengthening the link with management commentary  
2.5 Disclosing information outside of the financial statements 

In considering these suggestions, and the examples provided, readers are advised to keep in 
mind that there is no single format that fits all. In developing an appropriate structure for the 
financial statements, entity-specific facts and circumstances should be considered. These include 
the entity’s business model, the characteristics of its primary users, as well as jurisdictional 
requirements and restrictions. Furthermore, because comparability across entities enhances the 
usefulness of financial statements, it is also appropriate to consider the reporting by relevant 
peers. This does not mean, however, that an entity should pursue uniformity with others for  
the mere sake of uniformity and, therefore, adopt a format that is not effective in “telling its 
own story”. 

While efforts to enhance the communication effectiveness of the financial statements are 
encouraged, entities should also be mindful that consistency over time is another important 
quality of decision-useful financial information. This quality pertains not only to the information 
provided in the financial statements, but also to the way it is presented. Many users of financial 
statements know what information they are seeking and where to find it. Changes to the 
structure of the financial statements should, therefore, only be made if they improve the 
usefulness of the statements.  

2.1 Improving navigation in financial statements 
Financial statements are often used as a book of reference – the place to look for information to 
answer questions about an entity’s financial position and performance. An important aspect of 
usefulness of financial statements is thus the ease with which users can find the information  
they seek. 

There are various means to assist users in identifying the information they need, including 
traditional cross references from the primary financial statements to the relevant notes. It has, 
for example, become common practice to provide a list of the various notes summarising the 
information and where it has been disclosed. The inclusion of navigation bars is another quite 
common feature. 

In electronic versions of financial statements, it is useful if content listings, cross references and 
navigation bars are hyper-linked, making the information available at a click. While hyper-links 
have become quite common, it is not yet equally common to provide users with “take-me-back” 
features. See Extracts 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 for two examples. 
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Extract 2.1.1 Airbus Group SE (2015) Netherlands
 

 
 
 

 

Commentary 
A type of navigation bar at the top of each page in the 2015 registration document for the Airbus Group 
provides the reader with quick links to various sections of the document. The first of these (the curved 
arrow) takes the reader back to the last page visited. The second and third take the reader one page 
back/forward. It is not a conventional navigation bar in the sense that the current section is highlighted. 
This information is instead conveyed by a separate rubric below the navigation bar. 

 

Extract 2.1.2 Poste Italiane SPA (2015)  Italy
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In the 2015 annual report for Poste Italiane, two icons provide the readers with quick-links to the content 
listing for the annual report and the directors’ report on operations, respectively. 

 
While these measures can help users navigate within an entire document, other design features 
may help users identify information within the various sections of the document. For example, 
icons, callout boxes and highlighting may all be used to signal specific types of content. The 
following Extract 2.1.3 illustrates various means to help users navigate a lengthy note on 
financial risk management. 

The strategic use of white space in a document can enhance the presentation of information, 
making it easier to identify. In this spirit, several entities have moved away from traditional notes 
sections populated with tables and small-font text. The use of illustrative photographs is still rare 
in financial statements, but various graphics illustrating information previously provided in text 
or tables are becoming commonplace. Examples include pie-charts (as in Extract 2.1.4), bar-
charts (especially for maturity profiles as in Extract 2.1.5) and waterfall charts explaining  
year-to-year changes (Extract 2.1.6). As a result, a page in the notes section of the financial 
statements may today appear similar to other parts of the annual report, where the focus on 
communication effectiveness is, by tradition, stronger. 
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Extract 2.1.3a AB Volvo (2015) Sweden
 

 
 

 

Extract 2.1.3b AB Volvo (2015) Sweden
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Commentary 

Note 4 in Volvo’s 2015 annual report sets out goals and policies applicable to financial risk management. 
The introduction to the note includes explicit cross references to accounting policies on financial 
instruments in Note 30 and disclosures regarding the management of capital on pages 101 and 102 
highlighted by “Read more” in bold red text. The introduction also includes an organisation chart of the 
note. This chart is repeated throughout the note, using shading to signal which section of the note one is 
currently reading (see Extract 2.1.3b). The second extract also illustrates the use of icons to signpost 
different types of content (disclosures on risk and risk policies). 

 

Extract 2.1.4 AB SKF (2015) Sweden 
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Extract 2.1.4 AB SKF (2015) (cont’d) Sweden 

 
 

Commentary 

Note 2 “Segment information” in the 2015 annual report for SKF uses photographs, graphs and white 
space to enhance tabular quantitative disclosures, thus making it more user friendly. 
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Extract 2.1.5 Danone (2015) France
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

Danone’s 2015 annual report and registration document uses graphs and charts in some notes, including 
this bar chart in Note 10 illustrating the timing of projected cash outflows relating to different types of 
financial debt. 

 

Extract 2.1.6a Teleperformance SE (2015) France
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Extract 2.1.6b Teleperformance SE (2015) France
 

 
 

Commentary 

Note C10 on “Income” in the 2015 annual financial report for Teleperformance includes a waterfall chart 
explaining the change in reported revenues in terms of “Currency effect”, “Like-for-like growth” and 
“Scope effect”. In Note H.4, another waterfall chart explains the year-to- year change in net debt. 

 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FRC Financial Reporting 
Lab (UK) 

 Adjusting the layout of the notes can improve 
the accessibility of the information. With a 
similar objective - to facilitate on-screen 
readability - the Financial Reporting Council  
of the United Kingdom (FRC) Financial 
Reporting Lab has promoted the use of 
landscape orientation of financial reports.  
More information on this is provided below.  
We note that a number of entities use a 
landscape format either for the complete 
annual report or parts of it. 

In Digital present12 (2015), the FRC Financial 
Reporting Lab considers various mechanisms for 
the digital communication of corporate reporting 
information to investors. The report notes that 
investors value PDF versions of annual reports for 
a variety of reasons and it presents a list of ways in 
which entities can improve PDF annual reports. 
One is to enhance the on-screen readability, for 
example, by presenting information in landscape 
format. Alternatively, the report suggests, entities 
should make sure the PDF works with the reflow 
tool13 built into some PDF readers. 

 

 

2.2 Re-ordering the notes  
Entities are required to disclose certain information in the notes to the primary financial 
statements. Currently, the predominant practice is to present the main body of notes following 
the order of the related line items in the primary financial statements.  

As the notes sections have become progressively longer, the usefulness of this structure has 
been questioned and it has been suggested that alternative structures may enhance 
communication effectiveness. 

                                                   
12 Digital Present, Current use of digital media in corporate reporting, Financial Reporting Council (FRC), May 2015 
(accessed via https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Financial-Reporting-Lab/Lab-Project-Report-Digital-
Present.pdf). 

13 Reflow is a functionality which changes the PDF document format into a single column. 
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The persistence of the dominant practice has, in part, been attributed to the wording of IAS 1. 
Acknowledging this, the IASB has clarified that entities should consider understandability, as well 
as comparability, in determining the order of the notes. 

Extract from IAS 1 

113. An entity shall, as far as practicable, present notes in a systematic manner.  
In determining a systematic manner, the entity shall consider the effect on the 
understandability and comparability of its financial statements. An entity shall cross-
reference each item in the statements of financial position and in the statement(s) of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and in the statements of changes in 
equity and of cash flows to any related information in the notes.  

In recent years, a number of entities have also started exploring new ways of ordering the notes. 
Two main approaches have emerged: 

• Presenting the notes in order of importance  

• Grouping the notes into themes 

The first approach rests on the idea that communication effectiveness may be enhanced by 
directing the users of the financial statements to information of particular importance.  

The challenge with this approach lies in identifying an appropriate order, acknowledging that 
perceptions of importance may vary both across users and over time. There is also a concern 
that a structure based on importance may reduce comparability, both across entities and  
over time.  

The second approach is to group disclosures by themes, often presented in sections (see 
Extracts 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 for two examples).This is based on the notion that communication 
effectiveness may be improved by helping users to connect different items of information.  

The challenge lies in identifying appropriate themes and, because different entities may adopt 
different themes, consistency and comparability across entities may suffer. As such the first 
approach, grouping the notes into themes requires judgement in striking a balance between 
relevance and comparability. 

Often entities combine the grouping of notes into themes with other measures to enhance 
effective communication. In addition, some entities add an introduction to each section, 
explaining its content, thus, helping the reader navigate through the disclosures.14 

In practice, the two approaches are often combined. Any effort to re-order the notes encourages 
entities to reconsider the relevance of the financial statements information. Such efforts 
therefore often result in some information being removed due to their lack of relevance. 
Furthemore, presenting the notes in the order of importance and grouping them into themes  
also have the advantage of allowing entities to communicate what management considers to  
be the most important aspects of the financial statements, or to tell “the entity’s story”. 

                                                   
14 See also discussion in Section 2.4. 



15 February 2017 – Enhancing communication effectiveness  

Extract 2.2.1a Amcor Limited (2016) Australia 

 
 

 

Extract 2.2.1b Amcor Limited (2016) Australia 

 

 

Commentary 

In the 2016 financial statements for Amcor, the notes are grouped into six sections with the objective of 
assisting users to understand the Group’s performance. An introduction at the start of each section 
explains its purpose and contents as well as providing a summary on key developments (see for instance 
Extract 2.2.1b). 
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Extract 2.2.2a IMI plc (2015) UK 
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Extract 2.2.2b IMI plc (2015) UK 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In the 2015 financial statements for IMI the notes are grouped into five sections. The purpose of each 
section is briefly explained both in the table of contents on page 72 (see the Extract 2.2.2a) and at the 
beginning of each section (e.g., see Extract 2.2.2b). A more detailed table of contents is also provided on 
page 75 of the financial statements. 

 

2.3 Improving the disclosure of significant accounting policies 
Entities are required to disclose a summary of their significant accounting policies and new 
accounting policies. Currently, the predominant practice is to present this disclosure in a lengthy 
note at the beginning of the notes section. While it is standard practice to identify new 
accounting policies separately, the bulk of these notes tends to follow the order of the line items 
as presented in the primary financial statements. 

The notes on significant accounting policies has received much attention in discussions of how to 
improve the communication effectiveness of financial statements. This section addresses three 
suggestions relating to the format of these notes. Suggestions relating to the content of this 
note are separately discussed in the next chapter (Section 3.1). 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - AMF-ANC 

 (i) Restructuring the note on significant 
accounting policies 

Some suggestions focus on the basic structure 
of the notes (see for instance the information 
below on guidance from the French standard 
setter and the French regulator). It has, for 
example, been suggested that it may be more 
user-friendly to group the accounting policies 
in terms of relevance rather than the order of 
the line items. This is illustrated by Extracts 
2.3.1 and 2.3.2 below.  

In 2015 the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF) 
and the Autorité des Normes Comptables (ANC) in 
France published a guide to the relevance, 
consistency and readability of the financial 
statements15 providing practical suggestions for 
improving financial statements. One of the 
suggestions in the publication was to restructure 
the presentation of accounting policies using the 
following categories: 

• Accounting policies that are new 
• Accounting policies that require specific choices 

by management 
• Accounting policies that are of critical nature in 

terms of the business or the entity's position 
• Accounting policies that are more standard in 

their implementation 

 

 

                                                   
15 Guide to the relevance, consistency and readability of financial statements, Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF), 
2015 
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Extract 2.3.1a Orange SA (2015) France

 

 

 

 
 

Extract 2.3.1b Orange SA (2015) France
 

 

 

Commentary 

In Note 1.2 of the 2015 annual report for Orange, accounting policies chosen by management from a  
set of alternative policies are listed separately (see first bullet in Extract 2.3.1a, commenting on the 
application of IAS 2 Inventories, IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets).  
In the following bullet, the note also identifies accounting policies for which there is no relevant standard 
in IFRS and where management has adopted an accounting policy applying the guidance in IAS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. For example, at the end of Note 8.2 
(see Extract 2.3.1b), Orange discloses the relevant accounting policies for income taxes as indicated in 
the second bullet of Note 1.2. 
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Extract 2.3.2a Sligro Food Group N.V. (2015) Netherlands 
 

 
 

 

Extract 2.3.2b Sligro Food Group N.V. (2015) Netherlands 
 

 
 
Commentary 

In the 2015 annual report for the Sligro Food Group, the section setting out the accounting policies is 
split into several parts, as outlined in the extract above, which is taken from a content listing on page 109 
of the report. As in the previous extract, policies for which specific choices have been made are disclosed 
separately. Section F in Extract 2.3.2b focuses on policies relating to the measurement of fair value, 
property, plant and equipment, investment property and the presentation of the cash flow statement. 
Policies “of a more critical nature” are also separately disclosed (Section G) and include policies relating 
to sales, cost of sales, goodwill and other intangible assets and property plant and equipment. 
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(ii) Improving the link between significant accounting policies and other financial statement 
information 

Another approach to improve the communication effectiveness of the note on significant 
accounting policies is to provide cross references from the accounting policies to relevant notes. 
See Extract 2.3.3 below for one example.  

While this seems like a useful measure, it may be equally useful to include similar cross 
references from other notes to descriptions of relevant accounting policies and, where 
applicable, also the descriptions of significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty. 
Interestingly, such “link-backs” do not appear to be common. 

Extract 2.3.3 Securitas AB (2015) Sweden 

 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In the 2015 annual report for Securitas, accounting principles are presented in Note 2. Cross references 
to relevant notes are provided and clearly distinguished using a bright blue font. 

 

(iii) Repositioning information on significant accounting policies  
An approach that appears to be gaining popularity in practice is to split the notes by moving 
descriptions of significant accounting policies to the relevant notes. This approach is believed to 
improve communication effectiveness by making it easier for users to find and connect related 
information.  
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Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - ANC, AMF, FRC and EFRAG 

 Because this approach involves combining 
different types of information in the notes, 
entities need to consider carefully both the 
structure of each note and how to help users 
navigate within the combined notes. In 
practice, various visual approaches are used. 
Common approaches include using boxes, 
shading and/or different colour font (see 
Extract 2.3.4 below) as well as icons (see 
Extract 2.1.3b). 

An added benefit of splitting the disclosure  
of significant accounting policies between 
different notes is that this requires entities to 
revisit the relevance of each policy. This can 
also help to identify irrelevant disclosures as 
well as areas where more information is 
required. 

• The ANC and the AMF in their guide to the 
relevance, consistency and readability of the 
financial statements suggest to enhance 
readability by structuring each note as follows:  
a) Applicable accounting policies 
b) Detailed figures and narrative explanations 

of the main changes 
c) Significant items 

• The European Financial Reporting Advisory 
Group (EFRAG), the ANC, and the FRC in their 
discussion paper Towards a Disclosure 
Framework for the Notes highlighted a number 
of alternative approaches with respect to 
presentation of accounting policies: 
• Flexible approach - prioritising disclosures 
• Grouping information with similar 

characteristics 
• Display of information in the notes 

 

 

Extract 2.3.4 Casino, Guichard-Perrachon S.A. (2015) France 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In the 2015 annual report for the Casino Group, descriptions of significant accounting policies have  
been integrated in the relevant notes. To facilitate identification, these descriptions are presented in a 
separate box, marked by grey shading. 

 
Since some accounting policies relate to the financial statements as a whole, entities may  
still retain a note summarising such accounting policies (e.g. the basis of consolidation and 
foreign currency translation). In many cases, entities also choose to provide a list of, and cross 
references to, significant policies described elsewhere. See Extract 2.3.5 for one example. Often, 
this note is presented early in the notes section, similar to the traditional note on significant 
accounting policies. However, some entities place it more towards the end of the notes section  
of the financial statements. 
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Extract 2.3.5 Bulten AB (2015) Sweden

 

 
 

Commentary 

Note 2 in the 2015 annual report for Bulten lists and cross-references to significant accounting policies. 
It also lists and cross-refers to various notes with information on critical accounting estimates. 
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2.4 Strengthening the link with management commentary  

Standard setter and regulatory activity 
– IASB - Practice Statement on 
Management Commentary 

 In many jurisdictions it is common for the 
financial statements to be accompanied  
by a narrative report from management, 
commenting on the entity’s financial 
performance, financial position and 
liquidity. Different concepts are used for 
these reports, including Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), (Board of) 
Directors’ Report and Financial Review. 
While included in the same overall 
document, such narratives are usually 
presented separately from the financial 
statements, reflecting the fact that they  
are encompassed by national requlation  
and not by IFRS. The IASB has, however, 
issued a Practice Statement Management 
Commentary. 

It is sometimes suggested that 
communication effectiveness of the  
overall report may be enhanced by 
strengthening the links between financial 
statements and management commentary. 
However, such suggestions raise concerns 
about maintaining a clear distinction 
between the financial statement 
information and other information  
(see requirement to clearly distinguish 
financial statement information in IAS 1 
below). For instance, a user should be able 
to distinguish audited information from 
non-audited information. 

While IFRS apply only to financial statements, the 
IASB has published a Practice Statement suggesting a 
framework for the presentation of narrative reporting 
accompanying financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. 

This statement defines management commentary  
as a narrative report that provides a context within 
which to interpret the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of an entity. It also 
provides management with an opportunity to explain 
its objectives and its strategies for achieving those 
objectives. 
The statement addresses the following topics: 
• Purpose 
• Principles 
• Management's view 
• Supplement and complement the financial 

statement information 
• Forward-looking information 
• Qualitative characteristics of useful information 

in the management commentary 
• Materiality to assess relevant information to 

include in the management commentary 
• Presentation 
• Elements of management commentary 
Management commentaries should be clear and 
straightforward. The form and content of 
management commentaries will vary between 
entities, reflecting the nature of their business, the 
strategies adopted by management, and the 
regulatory environment in which they operate. 

 

 

Extract from IAS 1 

49. An entity shall clearly identify the financial statements and distinguish them from 
other information in the same published document.  

50. IFRSs apply only to financial statements, and not necessarily to other information 
presented in an annual report, a regulatory filing, or another document. Therefore, it is 
important that users can distinguish information that is prepared using IFRSs from other 
information that may be useful to users but is not the subject of those requirements. 

 
Bearing in mind these concerns, some entities have explored ways of strengthening the link 
between the financial statements and the management commentary. An entity should ensure 
consistency in terms of wording, definitions, segment disclosures, etc., between management 
financial statements and management commentary to improve the understanding of financial 
performance. Three overall approaches have been identified in practice: 
i) Embedding the primary financial statements within the management commentary 
ii) Presenting elements of the management commentary next to the financial statements 
iii) Presenting elements of the management commentary in the notes 
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These approches are explained and illustrated below. As already mentioned, integrating 
management commentaries and the IFRS information may be challenged on technical grounds, 
as well as its practical merits. In addition, as there may be jurisdictional concerns with such 
approaches, entities are advised to carefully consider whether any form of integration of non-
IFRS information and the IFRS financial statements is accepted by local regulators, before 
adopting any of the approaches. 

(i) Embedding primary financial statements within the management commentary 
Some entities have sought to strengthen the link between the financial statements and 
management commentary by embedding the primary financial statements in the management 
commentary. See Extract 2.4.1 for one example.  

Extract 2.4.1 AB Volvo (2015) Sweden 
 

 

 

 
 

Commentary 

In Volvo’s annual report for 2015, the four primary financial statements are embedded within the Board 
of Directors’ Report (pages 76-109). The notes to the financial statements, however, are presented 
outside the Director’s Report (pages 110-157). Within the Directors’ Report, the primary financial 
statements are presented on separate pages and the notes section is preceded by an overview clearly 
identifying where each primary statement can be found (see extract above). 
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(ii) Presenting management commentary next to the financial statements  
Another approach is to present elements of the management commentary next to the primary 
financial statements. See Extract 2.4.2 for one example.  

While retaining some of the communicative benefits of embedding the financial statements in  
the management commentary, a potential drawback of this approach is that the communication 
effectiveness of the management commentary may suffer from being split into sections. 
Alternatively, as is often the case in practice, some information may be duplicated in various parts 
of the overall report, which may, in some circumstances, be perceived as “cluttering” the report. 

Extract 2.4.2 National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK 

 
 

Commentary 

In the 2015/2016 annual report for National Grid, management commentary is presented on the pages 
following the primary financial statements, in a separate box marked “Unaudited commentary”. The fact 
that the commentary has not been audited is also noted in the introduction to the financial statements. 
Clearly identifying which information is audited and which is not, assists users in understanding the 
assurance accompanying the different pieces of information.  
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(iii) Presenting management commentary in the notes 
Some entities highlight key developments during the reporting period in a separate, often first, 
note. This may be useful if the financial statements are considered on a stand-alone basis (see 
Extract 2.4.3 for an example).  

However, if the financial statements are accompanied by a management report in which key 
developments are summarised and discussed (management commentary), a note on key 
developments in the financial statements may contribute to unnecessary duplications and clutter 
rather than enhancing communication effectiveness. Therefore, in determining whether a key 
developments note is helpful, it is important to consider the context in which the financial 
statements are presented. 

Other entities embed (unaudited) management commentary in the notes (e.g., see Extract 
2.4.4). Another approach, adopted by entities that have re-ordered the notes into sections  
based on themes (as described in Section 2.2), is to introduce each section with a summary, 
highlighting key developments. Rather than repeating information from the management 
commentary, this may allow management to present a more detailed level of analysis. See 
Extract 2.4.5 for one example. 

Extract 2.4.3 Flight Centre Travel Group Limited (FLT) (2016) Australia 
 

 
 

Commentary 

FLT presents a summary note of significant events and transactions occurred in the current period on the 
first page of the notes section in its 2016 financial statements.  
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Extract 2.4.4 National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK
 

 
 

 
Commentary 

The 2015/2016 annual report for National Grid contains 34 notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. Some of these also include “Unaudited management commentary”. This information is 
clearly separated by a box and a bright blue heading identifying the information as “Unaudited 
commentary”.  
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Extract 2.4.5 Dong Energy A/S (2015) Denmark 

 
 

 

Commentary 

The 2015 annual report for Dong Energy presents the notes in eight sections. Each section  
is introduced with a separate content listing and summary commentary highlighting key developments. 
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2.5 Disclosing information outside of the financial statements 
The disclosure of required information outside IFRS financial statements, is not acceptable, 
unless specifically allowed by the relevant standard. Such instances are rare and limited to 
certain disclosures relating to financial instruments and condensed interim financial statements, 
which may be incorporated in the financial statements by cross-reference to another report if 
that report is available on the same terms, and at the same time, as the financial statements.  

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - IASB - Discussion of  
cross-referencing 

 To ensure that users are able to locate the 
disclosures, the information should be clearly 
cross-referenced. Clear and unambiguous cross 
references are essential to articulate which 
information is covered by assurances from 
external parties (typically the external auditor).  

Disclosure of certain information outside the 
financial statements does not necessarily 
reduce the volume or increase the 
effectiveness of disclosures. However, if the 
information is already provided elsewhere in a 
report, cross-referencing might be an efficient 
tool to reduce duplication. This may be 
particularly helpful in jurisdictions where other 
reporting requirements overlap the financial 
reporting requirements. For example, many 
jurisdictions have extensive management 
remuneration disclosure requirements, which 
may overlap with the requirements of IAS 24 
Related Party Disclosures.  

At the moment, the IASB is exploring the use of 
cross-referencing in the Principles of Disclosure 
project. 

In developing its initial tentative decisions on 
proposals to be included in the forthcoming DP16, 
the IASB has identified the following principles on 
cross-referencing: 

• Include general principle for disclosing 
information required by IFRS outside of 
financial statements and incorporating such 
information into financial statements by cross-
referencing; and 

• limit the application of the cross-referencing 
principle to situations in which: 

• An entity places information required by 
IFRS outside of its financial statements but 
within its annual report 

• Applying the general principle would make 
the annual report as a whole more 
understandable  

• The financial statements remain 
understandable and fairly presented 

 

 

2.6 Summary 
Many entities have made significant efforts to enhance the communication effectiveness of  
their financial statements by various restructuring measures over the last few years. Some are 
exploring alternative ways of presenting the entity’s “story” by using digital developments  
(i.e., digital navigation enhancements), while others have restructured the notes to ensure  
more prominence to relevant information, using graphics and/or by re-ordering the content of 
the notes to be better aligned with the entity’s business model. This chapter has presented 
illustrations of these measures as well as other ways to restructure the financial statements,  
all with the objective of enhancing the communication effectiveness.  

  

                                                   
16 “IASB Update (November 2016)“, IFRS website, http://media.ifrs.org/2014/IASB/November/IASB-Update-
November-2014.html#4 
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3. Tailoring the financial statements  
Investors, analysts and other users of financial statements often find that disclosures in the 
notes to financial statements are generic, rather than entity-specific, and therefore do not 
provide decision-useful information. Boilerplate disclosures may not only fail to add value to the 
financial statements, but may also reduce the overall transparency of the statements by drawing 
attention away from entity-specific information. 

“Tailoring” the financial statements is about telling the entity’s own story, and usually requires 
consideration of how that story is presented in other contexts, including other reports within  
the same document, for example, press releases and press conferences. Tailoring the financial 
statements to entity-specific facts and circumstances may not reduce their length, but it has the 
potential to enhance communication effectiveness by ensuring that the relevant disclosures are 
provided, and by reducing “clutter”. 

While it is appropriate to tailor all parts of the financial statements, this chapter addresses 
tailoring in the following contexts: 

3.1 Significant accounting policies  
3.2 New accounting policies 
3.3 Critical judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 
3.4 APMs in the financial statements 
3.5 APMs outside the financial statements 

As noted in Chapter 1, applying the concept of materiality is a critical element of tailoring.  
The IASB has responded to increasing concerns for the negative impacts of disclosing immaterial 
information by adding a requirement the understandability of financial statements must not be 
reduced by obscuring material information with immaterial information. The IASB is also working 
to develop guidance on the application of materiality. However, the application of materiality as a 
means to achieve tailored information is beyond the scope of this publication.  

Extract from IAS 1  

30A. When applying this and other IFRSs an entity shall decide, taking into consideration 
all relevant facts and circumstances, how it aggregates information in the financial 
statements, which include the notes. An entity shall not reduce the understandability of its 
financial statements by obscuring material information with immaterial information or by 
aggregating material items that have different natures or functions. 

 
3.1 Significant accounting policies 
The disclosure of significant accounting policies is intended to provide users of the financial 
statements with an understanding of the measurement bases and other policies applied in 
preparing the financial statements.  

As noted in Section 2.3, the practice of disclosing significant accounting policies in a single 
lengthy note has been central to the debate on disclosure effectiveness. Section 2.3 addresses 
issues relating to the structure of the note, whereas this section addresses its content, focusing 
on two related concerns: 

• Identification of significant accounting policies 

• Entity-specific descriptions of the policies 
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(i) Disclosing only accounting policies that are significant for the entity 
It is surprisingly common for notes to include descriptions of accounting policies for transactions 
and events that are not relevant to the reporting entity. As a result, recently, enforcers have 
started addressing such practices, requesting entities to remove descriptions of non-relevant 
policies and policies regarding immaterial items.  

The objective aims to provide a note that allows the readers to focus more easily on the policies 
that affect the entity’s financial position and performance. Non-applicable policies can obscure 
relevant information and could potentially confuse the users, either by simply cluttering the 
report or because their disclosure suggests that transactions (events or conditions) have 
occurred, when they have not, or a combination of the two.  

Extract from IAS 1  

119. In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed, management 
considers whether disclosure would assist users in understanding how transactions, other 
events and conditions are reflected in reported financial performance and financial 
position. Each entity considers the nature of its operations and the policies that the users 
of its financial statements would expect to be disclosed for that type of entity. Disclosure 
of particular accounting policies is especially useful to users when those policies are 
selected from alternatives allowed in IFRSs. An example is disclosure of whether an entity 
applies the fair value or cost model to its investment property (see IAS 40 Investment 
Property). Some IFRSs specifically require disclosure of particular accounting policies, 
including choices made by management between different policies they allow. For 
example, IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment requires disclosure of the measurement 
bases used for classes of property, plant and equipment. 

 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FRC Financial Reporting 
Lab (UK) 

 Although preparers are encouraged to remove 
the disclosure of accounting policies that are 
not relevant for the current period from its 
financial statements, entities should maintain 
internal records of all previously applied 
accounting policies to ensure their consistent 
application in future periods.  

(ii) Disclosing entity-specific descriptions of 
significant accounting policies 

A second concern is the tendency for the 
descriptions of significant accounting policies 
to, more or less, only repeat the wording from 
relevant standards, lacking entity-specific 
information. By tailoring the disclosure of 
significant accounting policies the wording 
would be confined to aspects only relevant to 
the entity rather than reproduce the wording 
from the standard. See, for example, the UK 
FRC Financial Reporting Lab guidance on how 
to tailor descriptions of significant accounting 
policies. 

In a report on Accounting policies and integration of 
related financial information (July 2014)17 the FRC 
Financial Reporting Lab proposes the following 
considerations in determining the relevance of 
policy disclosures: 

• Materiality of transaction classes and amounts, 
and importance to the nature of the business 

• policies for all distinct revenue streams 

• Where there is a choice of policy under IFRS, or 
significant judgement in selecting the policy 

• Where there is a need for management to apply 
significant levels of estimation or judgement in 
applying the policy  

 

 

                                                   
17 Accounting policies and integration of related financial information, Financial Reporting Council (FRC), July 2014 
(https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Financial-Reporting-Lab/Accounting-policies-and-integration-of-
related-fin.pdf). 
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Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FRC Financial Reporting 
Lab (UK) 

 Entity-specific descriptions of policies for 
revenue recognition 

Revenue represents a crucial performance 
measure in most entities. Recogniton of 
revenue is often highly judgemental. 
Therefore, the disclosure of relevant revenue 
recognition policies is essential. 

Tailoring the description of an entity’s policy 
for recognising revenue entails moving beyond 
merely repeating the text in the applicable 
standard, stating for instance that, “Revenue 
on the sale of goods is recognised when 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer in accordance 
with IAS 18 Revenue.” In some cases, it may be 
sufficient to explain when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership are usually 
considered to have been transferred to buyers. 
In other cases, a substantial amount of 
information may be required to allow users of 
the financial statements to understand when 
the entity recognises revenue. Having more 
than one type of revenue stream usually calls 
for more information. 

In the abovementioned report on Accounting 
policies and integration of related financial 
information (July 2014) the FRC Financial 
Reporting Lab made the following 
recommendations regarding the disclosures of 
significant accounting policies. They should: 

• Be written using plain, understandable language 

• Describe any judgements made in selecting the 
policy applied, and the rationale for them 

• Describe the entity’s application of the 
accounting policy rather than summarise the 
relevant standard requirements, including the 
estimation/judgements made and their 
significance to reported amounts 

 

 

Extract 3.1.1 Amcor Limited (2016) Australia

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Commentary 

The 2016 annual report for Amcor explains that revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at different 
times reflecting the terms of sale. The note also identifies which alternatives commonly occur. 
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Extract 3.1.2 ITV plc (2015) UK

 
 

Commentary 

ITV’s annual report for 2015 provides fairly detailed information about when different classes of revenue 
are recognised. The information is provided in a tabular format, making it easy for the reader to identify 
both the different types of revenue the entity reports and the recognition criteria applied. The table also 
specifies which segments are affected by the different streams, something that may facilitate users’ 
understanding of revenue reported by segment. 
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For entities that produce and sell equipment, it is sometimes relevant to explain the distinction 
between revenue from the sale of goods and services (see Extract 3.1.3 below). 

Extract 3.1.3 IMI plc (2015) UK
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Commentary 

IMI manufactures and services products that control the movement of fluids. The section on revenue 
recognition in the 2015 annual report describes policies for recognising revenue from the sale of goods, 
rendering of services and construction contracts. The introduction first explains why a significant 
majority of the Group’s revenue is recognised on a sale-of-goods basis. The text goes on to explain – for 
contracts involving goods and significant services – when revenue is recognised separately for these 
deliveries and when the contract is treated as a construction contract. A detailed explanation on when 
revenue is recognised from the sale of goods is also provided. 

 
For entities that operate in specific industries, it is sometimes relevant to explain how standards 
are applied to their specific facts and circumstances (e.g., see Extract 3.1.4). 
 
Extract 3.1.4 ENI SpA (2015) Italy 
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Commentary 
ENI is an oil and gas company with several revenue streams. The annual report for 2015  
first explains when revenue is recognised for different streams. It then explains the accounting for 
revenue from joint interests in crude oil and natural gas production facilities. Since two methods are 
commonly used in the sector for revenues from such facilities, the section identifies the chosen approach 
(i.e., the “entitlement method”). 

 
There may also be other business or entity-specific factors and circumstances that are relevant to 
describe, e.g., prevalent discounts or particular sources of estimation uncertainty (see Extract 3.1.5). 

Extract 3.1.5 Wesfarmers Limited (2016)  Australia

 
 

Commentary 

Wesfarmers is a company with very diverse operations. Nevertheless, the annual report for 2016 
explains that a majority of reported revenue derives from the sale of finished goods and that, for such 
goods, revenue is generally recognised upon delivery to the customer. Information on the accounting for 
loyalty programmes and gift cards, especially on the estimates made in this context, is highlighted using 
both separate rubrics and coloured boxes. The remaining sources of revenue disclosed in the annual 
report (i.e., “Rendering of services”, “Interest”, “Dividends” and “Operating lease rental revenue”) are 
not presented in the extract above. 

Generally, more complex transactions require longer explanations. Entities in the technology, 
telecom and media sectors, for example, tend to have more detailed disclosures on how their 
numerous revenue streams are recognised. 
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3.2 New accounting policies  
IFRS requires entities to disclose the expected effects of the implementation of new or revised 
standards and interpretations that have not yet been applied.  

Extract from IAS 8 

30. When an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet 
effective, the entity shall disclose: 

a) This fact; and 

b) Known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible impact 
that application of the new IFRS will have on the entity's financial statements in the 
period of initial application. 

31. In complying with paragraph 30, an entity considers disclosing: 

a) The title of the new IFRS; 

b) The nature of the impending change or changes in accounting policy; 

c) The date by which application of the IFRS is required; 

d) The date as at which it plans to apply the IFRS initially; and 

e) Either: 

i) A discussion of the impact that initial application of the IFRS is expected to have on 
the entity's financial statements; or 

ii) If that impact is not known or reasonably estimable, a statement to that effect. 

The objective of these disclosures is to enable the users of the financial statements to 
understand the impacts of the new policies on the entity’s financial statements. In practice, 
however, disclosures about the effects of new IFRSs tend to be lengthy and standardised to the 
point of providing very little entity-specific information. As a consequence, users are not 
provided with the information they need to assess the effects of new standards on an entity’s 
financial position, performance and the prospect of future cash flows.  

Tailoring the disclosures about the effect of new standards may mean that disclosures about new 
or revised IFRSs that are not relevant, or that are immaterial for the entity, are toned down, or 
even left out. It also means providing specific, sufficiently granular, information on the expected 
impact of initial application on the entity’s financial statements. 

Many entities present the information relating to new and revised IFRSs in tabular format. While 
this format is often perceived as useful, the usefulness of the disclosure provided is ultimately 
determined by its content. 

At the end of 2015, two major new IFRSs were due to come into effect in the near future: IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers. However, the fact 
that entities provided very little, if any, information about the expected impact of these 
standards in their 2015 financial statements was widely commented on. Instead, these 
statements generally included brief comments suggesting that the impact was not expected to 
be material, and that the entity was yet to finalise the assessment of the full impact of the 
standards. While most entities did not, for instance, disclose the intended method of transition, 
there were some exceptions. These were notably, but not exclusively, from the telecoms industry 
(see Extracts 3.2.1 and 3.2.2). 
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Extract 3.2.1 BT Group plc (2016) UK 

 

 
 

 

 

Commentary 

Although BT Group has not yet finalised its analysis of the expected impact of the transition to IFRS 15 
Revenue from contracts with customers, it disclosed qualitative information on the planned transition in 
its annual report for 2016. The disclosure contains the planned transition date, as well as a qualitative 
description of expected accounting implications for several industry-specific revenue transactions.  
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Extract 3.2.2 Vodafone Group plc (2016) UK 
 

 

 

Commentary 

Similar to Extract 3.2.1 from BT Group’s annual report for 2016, Vodafone describes the expected 
accounting implications without quantifying the effects. Additionally, the intention to apply the 
“modified retrospective transition approach” by reflecting the cumulative impact in equity on the date 
of adoption is disclosed at the end of the note. 

 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - ESMA - Public 
statements on disclosures relating 
to the implementation of IFRS 15 
and IFRS 9 

 In response to these observations, some 
regulators have stressed the importance  
of entities providing relevant disclosures. 
ESMA has, for example, published statements 
emphasising the need for transparency on the 
impact of new standards. These statements 
also provides guidance on what ESMA 
considers “good practices of disclosures 
” on the effects of new standards. 

In July and November 2016, ESMA published two 
statements emphasising the need for entities to 
disclose the expected effects of two major 
standards not yet effective (i.e. IFRS 15 Revenue 
from contracts with customers and IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments)18. Within these statements, 
ESMA presents expectations about what entities 
should disclose about the impact of the new 
standards in the 2016 financial statements, and 
the 2017 interim and annual financial statements. 
The ESMA statements illustrate the importance of 
tailored disclosures in general, and more 
specifically in the context of the impact of new 
standards. 

 

                                                   
18 ESMA Public Statement No. ESMA/2016/1148, Issues for consideration in implementing IFRS 15: Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA), 20 July 2016 (accessed via 
https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/2016-1148_public_statement_ifrs_15.pdf) and ESMA Public 
Statement No. 2016/ESMA/1563, Issues for consideration in implementing IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, European 
Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA), 10 November 2016 (accessed via 
https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/2016-1563_public_statement-
issues_on_implementation_of_ifrs_9.pdf). 
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3.3 Critical judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty  
Preparing financial statements for an entity requires the exercise of judgement  
in applying accounting policies as well as in determining reasonable estimates. Assessing 
whether an entity has control or significant influence over another entity are examples of 
judgement in applying accounting policies. Determining the expected useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets and resources required to complete projects for  
which revenues are recognised over time, are examples of estimates being made when  
applying accounting policies. 

Because judgements and estimates can have a major impact on the financial statements,  
IFRS requires entities to provide users with qualitative and quantitative information about the 
judgements that have the most significant effects on the financial statements and on those 
estimates where there is a significant risk of material adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in future financial statements. Unless users are provided with sufficient 
information about these matters, they may not be able to make informed decisions based on  
the financial statements.  

Extract from IAS 1 

122. An entity shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other notes, 
the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see paragraph 125), that 
management has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

125. An entity shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the future, 
and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that 
have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those assets and liabilities, 
the notes shall include details of: 

a) Their nature, and 

b) Their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period. 

A general observation is that many entities seem to comply with the form, but not the substance, 
of these disclosure requirements. For instance, it is not uncommon for entities to list a large 
number of sources of estimation uncertainty, without distinguishing which are more significant. 
Rather than providing decision-useful information, such disclosures may clutter the financial 
statements. 

Tailoring disclosures of key judgements and sources of significant estimation uncertainty  
means identifying which judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty should be  
disclosed considering the objectives of general purpose financial statements. 

Regulators have found that often too generic disclosures are provided, in that entities do not 
identify the specific judgements they have made or they fail to explain the extent to which the 
changes in value of assets and liabilities could have a material effect on the following year’s 
financial statements.  
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Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FRC - Thematic Reviews 
on significant accounting 
judgments and sources of 
estimation uncertainty 

 A general observation is that many entities 
seem to comply with the form, but not the 
substance, of these disclosure requirements. 
For instance, it is not uncommon for entities to 
list a large number of sources of estimation 
uncertainty, without distinguishing which are 
more significant. Rather than providing 
decision-useful information, such disclosures 
may clutter the financial statements. 

Tailoring disclosures of key judgements and 
sources of significant estimation uncertainty 
means identifying which judgements and 
sources of estimation uncertainty should be 
disclosed considering the objectives of general 
purpose financial statements. 

Regulators have found that often too generic 
disclosures are provided, in that entities do not 
identify the specific judgements they have 
made or they fail to explain the extent to which 
the changes in value of assets and liabilities 
could have a material effect on the following 
year’s financial statements.  

 

In December 2016, the FRC announced that it will 
conduct a thematic review of disclosures relating to 
significant accounting judgements and sources of 
estimation uncertainty, among other things. The 
FRC has observed that such disclosures in practice 
often are generic in nature.  

The FRC reports the following areas of 
improvement19: 

• Clear descriptions of the specific, material 
judgements made by the directors in applying 
accounting policies, clearly differentiating these 
from estimates. 

• �Specific identification of the sources of 
estimation uncertainty that have the potential 
to change in the next year, with quantified 
explanations of the assumptions made about 
the future (e.g., oil prices) and the carrying 
amounts that are subject to a significant risk of 
material adjustment within the next financial 
year. 

• �Where material, supplementary disclosures 
such as information about the sensitivity of 
estimates to changes in assumptions, the range 
of reasonably possible outcomes and changes 
made to past assumptions during the year. 

 

 

Entities that have chosen to split the disclosure of significant accounting policies (see Section 
2.3) usually do the same thing for the disclosures on key judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty, presenting this information in the relevant notes rather than in a lengthy first note. 
Sometimes, the disclosures are then marked by icons, or highlighted by other means in the 
relevant notes. Even so, the challenge remains to provide information that helps users of 
financial statements to understand the judgements that management has made about the future 
and the sources of estimation uncertainty. See the following extracts in this section for examples 
of more tailored disclosures. We note, however, that on a general basis, there is significant room 
for improvement when making relevant disclosures on the assumptions made about future 
developments impacting the current accounting estimates. See Extract 3.3.2 for an example 
where information is provided on the sensitivity of reported amounts to the estimates underlying 
their calculation. 

  

                                                   
19 ”FRC’s 2017/18 thematic reviews expected to prompt improvements”, Financial Reporting Council (FRC), 15 
December 2016 (accessed via https://www.frc.org.uk/FRC-Documents/Corporate-Reporting-Review/Judgements-
and-Estimates-thematic-review-2017.pdf). 
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Extract 3.3.1 Amcor Limited (2016) Australia
 

 
 

 

Commentary 
In its 2015 annual report, Amcor reports on key judgements and estimates in the context of each note by 
using an icon, light blue shading and text. For example, Note 2.6 on provisions first provides a summary 
of how the group accounts for provisions. It then provides a more detailed description for five types of 
provisions using a tabular format. Three of these are shown in the extract above; with key judgements 
and estimates highlighted separately. 

 

Extract 3.3.2a National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK 
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Extract 3.3.2b National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK 
 

 

 

 

 

Commentary 

In its 2015/2016 annual report, National Grid provides some introductory comments on judgements and 
sources of estimation in Note 1 on the basis of preparation and recent accounting developments. Note 1 
refers the reader to a number of notes where more detailed information is provided, including a 
sensitivity analysis in Note 33. This analysis shows the potential impact on both the income statement 
and net assets of changes to a range of variables including assumptions of useful lives, fair values of 
derivatives, discount rates, salary changes and commodity prices. 
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Extract 3.3.3a AB Volvo (2015) Sweden 

 
 

 

Extract 3.3.3b AB Volvo (2015) Sweden 
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Extract 3.3.3c AB Volvo (2015) Sweden 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Commentary 

In Volvo’s 2015 annual report, some general information is provided on key sources of estimation 
uncertainty in Note 2, with cross references to relevant notes where further relevant information is 
provided (see Extract 3.3.3a). For example, Note 2 identifies legal proceedings as one source of 
estimation uncertainty, referring the reader to further information in Note 21 “Other Provisions”. Note 
21 starts with a section on accounting policies, followed by a section on sources of estimation uncertainty 
(see Extract 3.3.3b). This information is highlighted using both a rubric and an icon. In a subsection 
towards the end of the note, sources of estimation uncertainty relating to legal proceedings are described 
separately. The information is general at first, but moves on to describe specific proceedings, including 
an EU anti-trust investigation. The note briefly describes relevant events and the Group’s decision to 
recognise a provision. Some quantitative information is provided in the text and more is provided in a 
table identifying changes in the carrying amounts as well as expected timing of future cash flows. A 
useful detail is that the table provides information on the balance sheet total, for the benefit of the 
reader’s ease of access. Note 21 also cross-references to Note 24 “Contingent Liabilities”, which also 
describes this and other legal proceedings (see Extract 3.3.3c). 
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Extract 3.3.4 Iberdrola SA (2015) Spain
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

Iberdrola ‘s 2015 annual report provides disclosures about the use of estimates and sources of 
uncertainty in Note 6 to the financial statements. The subsection on the use of estimates identifies, inter 
alia, two estimates relating to revenue recognition. In addition to these types of qualitative disclosures on 
estimation uncertainties, entities often provide quantitative sensitivity disclosures on the key estimates. 

 

3.4 APMs in the primary financial statements 
IFRS contains only a few requirements regarding the format of the primary financial statements. 
A few line items are specifically required, but only if material. Instead entities are required to use 
judgement in including additional line items and subtotals that are relevant to an understanding 
of the entity’s financial performance and position. 

Extract from IAS 1 

55. An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line items 
listed in paragraph 54), headings and subtotals in the statement of financial position when 
such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position. 

55A. When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 55, those subtotals 
shall: 

a) Be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in accordance 
with IFRS; 

b) Be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the 
subtotal clear and understandable; 

c) Be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and 

d) Not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in IFRS for 
the statement of financial position. 
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Extract from IAS 1 (Cont’d) 

85. An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line items 
listed in paragraph 82), headings and subtotals in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of 
the entity’s financial performance. 

85A. When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 85, those subtotals 
shall: 

a) Be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in accordance 
with IFRS; 

b) Be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the 
subtotal clear and understandable; 

c) Be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and 

d) Not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in IFRS for 
the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
One practice adopted by a number of entities to improve the communication effectiveness of 
their financial reporting is to tailor the IFRS financial statements by incorporating line items 
and/or subtotals that facilitate reconciliation between reported numbers and key performance 
indicators used by management. Such measures are sometimes referred to as non-IFRS 
information, non-GAAP information or Alternative Performance Measures (APMs). APMs are 
often useful for investors for the purpose of providing relevant input in predicting future cash 
flows and valuing entities20. 

However, regulators have identified a number of problematic practices which can make APMs in 
the primary financial statements misleading:21 

• The lack of equal or greater prominence for GAAP measures 

• Exclusion of normal, recurring cash operating expenses 

• Individually tailored non-GAAP revenues 

• Lack of consistency 

• Cherry-picking  

• The use of cash per share data 

Full disclosure and transparency is key when using APMs. Therefore, the above-mentioned 
potentially misleading practices should be avoided. 

The following sub-sections present some examples observed in practice: the reporting of EBITDA 
and other sub-totals in the statement of profit or loss; the disclosure of net debt measures in the 
notes to the statement of financial position; and the presentation of management accounts 
alongside IFRS financial statements.  

(i) EBITDA in the statement of profit and loss 
Management of many entities monitor earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) or variations thereof. Some entities also present this measure in the 
statement of profit or loss (see Extracts 3.4.1 and 3.4.2).  

  

                                                   
20 CFA Institute, Investor Uses, Expectations, and Concerns on Non-GAAP Financial measures, September 2016. 
21 Mary Jo White, SEC Chair, speech on 27 June 2016 (https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/chair-white-icgn-
speech). 
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Extract 3.4.1 Flughafen München GmbH (2015) Germany

 
 

 
 

 

Extract 3.4.2a Inditex SA (2015) Spain
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Extract 3.4.2b Inditex SA (2015) Spain
 

 
 

 

Commentary 
Flughafen München (Extract 3.4.1) and Inditex (Extract 3.4.2a) both present EBITDA and EBIT in their 
profit and loss statements for 2015. Whereas Flughafen München presents operating expenses by nature 
on the face of the statement, Inditex provides this information in Note 6.4 as shown in Extract 3.4.2b.  

 
If operating expenses are primarily presented by function on the face of the statement of profit 
and loss, the inclusion of an EBITDA measure in the statement means that the format mixes 
functions and expenses. A mixed presentation on the face of the statement of profit and loss is 
permitted under current IFRS as long as the entity discloses an analysis of expenses by nature in 
the notes. Alternatively, EBITDA may simply be reported below the statement of profit or loss, 
similar to how earnings per share (EPS) measures are presented. Extract 3.4.3 provides an 
example of this.  
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Extract 3.4.3 Valeo Group (2015) France
 

 
 

Commentary 
Valeo Group presents operating expenses by function in its 2015 financial statements. While EBITDA has 
not been included in the statement of income, it is separately disclosed below. 
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(ii) Special, unusual and non-recurring items in the statement of profit or loss 
To assess trends, investors as well as management are often primarily interested in an entity’s 
underlying performance, i.e., the performance excluding the effect of period-specific “special”, 
”unusual” and/or “non-recurring” items.  

Users of the financial statements often rely on such adjusted numbers in their analysis of  
the financial information. Sometimes APMs are included within the financial statements. 

Disclosure of what management views as special, unusual and/or non-recurring items is 
controversial in some jurisdictions. Discussions generally revolve around definitions and 
classifications, in particular, whether certain items (e.g., restructuring expenses and 
impairment expenses) can be characterised as special/unusual/non-recurring. One view, 
however, is that as long as the definitions are clear and unambiguous, applied consistently, and 
there is transparency with regard to items included, disclosure of APMs may be appropriate.  

Some entities, however, choose to present this information on the face of the profit or loss 
rather than disclose it in the notes. While the objective may be to increase the prominence of  
the information, it may, in some instances, be at odds with the requirement to ensure fair 
presentation.  

Various practices exist across different jurisdictions; sometimes these reporting practices are 
affected by local regulations and guidance issued by regulators. The following extracts represent 
an inventory of such practices. Accordingly, in considering whether the practices illustrated in 
the extracts may be used in enhancing communication effectiveness of financial statements, 
readers are advised to carefully consider specific facts and circumstances, including jurisdictional 
requirements. 

In the UK it is not uncommon to apply a column approach to highlight items that management 
believes are of a particular nature (e.g., “special”, “specific” “exceptional”). See Extract 3.4.4 for 
one example. While this format may be seen to address some concerns relating to prominence, 
the use of more than one column for each period can be perceived as impractical, often requiring 
separate tables for comparative information. Furthermore, some believe the column approach 
makes comparisons more difficult. Extracts 3.4.5 and 3.4.6 below provide two examples where 
two and three periods are presented, respectively, in the same table. 

Extract 3.4.4a BT Group plc (2016) UK 
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Extract 3.4.4b BT Group plc (2016) UK 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In BT Group’s 2016 annual report, it uses a column approach to present “specific items” on the face of 
the profit and loss statement as shown in Extract 3.4.4a. A footnote below the statement contains cross 
references to an analysis of specific items in Note 8 and to a definition presented outside the financial 
statements on page 240. In Note 8 (Extract 3.4.4b), BT Group discloses the amount per line item and 
provides qualitative information (e.g., “Retrospective regulatory matters”) of individual “specific items”. 
The definition of “specific items” is reproduced in Extract 3.5.4. 
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Extract 3.4.5a IMI plc (2015) UK

 

 
 

 

Extract 3.4.5b IMI plc (2015) UK

 
 

 

Commentary 

In its 2015 annual report, IMI uses a column approach to present “Exceptional items” on the face of the 
profit and loss statement. Note 2.2 explains that the group uses this category for items “which are 
sufficiently large, volatile or one-off in nature to assist the reader of the financial statements to gain a 
better understanding of the underlying performance of the group”. The note further identifies and 
explains seven types of exceptional items (two are presented in Extract 3.4.5b above): (1) reversal of net 
economic hedge contract losses/gains; (2) restructuring costs; (3) gains on special pension events; (4) 
impairment losses and acquired intangible amortisation; (5) losses on disposal of subsidiaries (with a 
cross reference to a specific note on this); (6) acquisition and disposal costs; and (7) taxation (the tax 
effects of the other items). 
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Extract 3.4.6a National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK

 

 
 

 

Extract 3.4.6b National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK
 

 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In National Grid’s 2015/2016 annual report, the effects of “exceptional items and remeasurements” are 
identified separately on the face of the statement of profit and loss in a separate column (see Extract 
3.4.6a). In contrast to the previous examples, however, this format requires only two columns per year. 
The categorisation of certain items as ”exceptional” is identified as an area of judgement that has a 
significant effect on the nancial statements in Note 1 with a cross reference to Notes 4 and 7.  

Exceptional items are defined and specified in Note 4 as shown in Extract 3.4.6c. Here it is also explained 
that these items are excluded from measures of business performance, “… because, if included, these 
items could distort understanding of our performance for the year and the comparability between 
periods.”  

In Note 7 (Extract 3.4.6d) information on EPS is disclosed separately for exceptional items. 
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Extract 3.4.6c National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK

 
 

 
 

 

Extract 3.4.6d National Grid plc (2015/2016) UK
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In other jurisdictions it is common to present special, unusual and/or non-recurring items as a 
separate line item in the statement of profit or loss, sometimes disclosing the allocation of these 
items per function or type in the notes.  

Extract 3.4.7 Brunello Cucinelli SpA (2016 interim) Italy 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In the interim financial report for 2016 Brunello Cucinelli discloses a portion of payroll expenses as non-
recurring on the face of its income statement. Notably, non-recurring expenses are not presented as a 
separate line item, only separately disclosed. 

 

Extract 3.4.8a Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget SCA (2015) Sweden
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Extract 3.4.8b Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget SCA (2015) Sweden

 
 

 

Commentary 

In its 2015 annual report, SCA presents “items affecting comparability” as a separate line item in the 
statement of profit or loss. The allocation of these expenses to different functions as well as by type of 
cost, is disclosed in Note B2 as shown in Extract 3.4.8b. 

 
The terminology used to identify the “special” items varies. In some jurisdictions they are identified 
with the somewhat more neutral caption of “Other income and expenses” (e.g., see Extract 3.4.9). 
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Extract 3.4.9a Danone (2015) France

 
 
Extract 3.4.9b Danone (2015) France

 

 
Commentary 

The consolidated statement of profit and loss presented in Danone’s 2015 report presents both “Trading 
operating income” and “Operating income”. The difference is made up of “Other operating income 
(expenses)”, defined as “significant items that, because of their exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as 
inherent to its recurring activities”. Refer to Extract 3.5.2 for definitions of the various concepts. 
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Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FRC Financial Reporting 
Lab (UK) 

 (iii) Reporting net debt in the financial 
statements 

A non-IFRS measure pertaining to the 
statement of financial position that has gained 
prominence in some jurisdictions is “net debt”. 

Net debt reconciliations are often found in the 
notes to the financial statements. The level of 
detail and the line items included are usually 
entity-specific. The following extracts provide 
some examples: 

 

In 2012 the FRC Financial Reporting Lab published 
a report22 promoting net debt reconciliations, 
noting that that there are two typical uses of such 
reconciliations:  

• Equity valuation – the enterprise value 
attributable to net debt 

• Investigating perceived problems with debt or 
liquidity  

The report contains a number of observations on 
investor use of net debt and views of net debt 
disclosures emphasising the importance of showing 
how each component relates to the corresponding 
amount on the balance sheet.  

 

 

Extract 3.4.10 Akzo Nobel N.V. (2015) Netherlands 
 

 

Commentary 

Net debt/EBITDA is one of three financial performance indicators that are highlighted throughout the 
2015 annual report for Akzo Nobel. It is, for example, explained that the measure reflects the entity’s 
strategy to maintain a strong investment grade rating and the outcome is compared to a specific target. 
The term net debt does not appear on the face of the financial statements. It does, however, appear in 
the notes to the financial statements. Note 5 identifies net interest on net debt and Note 16 provides an 
analysis of the components of net debt. 

                                                   
22 Lab project report: Net debit reconcilitions, Financial Reporting Council (FRC), September 2012 (accessed via 
https://frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Financial-Reporting-Lab/FRC-Lab-project-report-Net-Debt-
Reconciliations.aspx) 
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Extract 3.4.11a Casino, Guichard-Perrachon S.A. (2015) France 
 

 
 

 

Extract 3.4.11b Casino, Guichard-Perrachon S.A. (2015) France 
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Extract 3.4.11b Casino, Guichard-Perrachon S.A. (2015) 
(Cont’d) France 

 

 
 

 

Commentary 

Both Net debt and Net debt/EBITDA are identified in the Financial Highlights section of Casino Group’s 
2015 registration document. Net debt does not appear on the face of the financial statements, but the 
notes to the statements provide both a reconciliation between changes in cash and cash equivalents and 
change in net debt (Note 4.4 in Extract 3.4.11a) and a reconciliation of net debt to items in the statement 
of financial position (Note 11.2 in Extract 3.4.11b). There is also a definition of net debt in the accounting 
policy section of Note 11. 
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Extract 3.4.12 ENEL SpA (2015) Italy 
 

 

 
 

Commentary 

The 2015 annual report for Enel Group discloses a reconciliation of “net financial position”to items 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position. The same note also provides a reconciliation 
of this measure to net financial position as defined by the Italian regulator (CONSOB). 
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(iv) Reporting non-IFRS statements alongside the IFRS statements 
In certain jurisdictions, some entities present alternative (management) financial statements 
alongside the IFRS financial statements (e.g., see Extract 3.4.13). However, when non-IFRS 
statements are presented, it is more common to present them outside the IFRS financial 
statements.  

Extract 3.4.13 Securitas AB (2015) Sweden 
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Extract 3.4.13 Securitas AB (2015) (Cont’d) Sweden 

 

 
 

 

Commentary 
In its annual report for 2015, Securitas presents alternative primary financial statements adjacent to, but 
on separate pages from, the IFRS financial statements. For example, the (IFRS) “consolidated statement 
of income” is presented on page 58 and the alternative income statement is presented on page 59.  
Page 59 is marked as “Supplementary information” and it is indicated by a different colour. Below the 
statement there is a cross reference to a section of the report where the colour scheme is explained.  
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Standard setter and regulatory activity - IASB 

Principles of Disclosure project 

The forthcoming DP is expected to include the IASB’s preliminary views that:  

• IFRS should include additional guidance on the depiction of non-recurring, unusual or infrequently occurring items 
in the statement of comprehensive income 

• The presentation of EBIT and EBITDA in the statement of profit or loss complies with IFRS, provided that the 
statement is presented “by nature” and such subtotals are in accordance with paragraphs 85–85B of IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements 

Regarding other non-IFRS information that are gaining more importance in the light of current developments in the 
integrated reporting space, the IASB decided that the DP should include its preliminary views that:  

• IFRS should not prohibit the placement of information that an entity has identified as non-IFRS in its financial 
statements 

• IFRS should provide guidance about the presentation of information identified as non-IFRS in an entity’s financial 
statements in a new disclosure standard 

Project on Primary Financial Statements 

In 2015 the IASB initiated a project23 to improve the structure and content of the primary financial statements. The 
project is still in an early stage, but it is expected to address issues such as: 

• The use of “EBIT” /”operating profit” subtotals 

• The use of “recurring operating profit” subtotals 

• Introducing a new category that reduces the need for OCI 

• Introducing alternative earnings per share measures 

• Revision of the definition of “operating cash flows” 

• Alignment across the different primary financial statements 

• Illustrative examples for the primary financial statements 

• Segment reporting and a revised performance statement 

• “Discontinued operations” as only a segment reporting classification issue 

 

(v) Concerns regarding APMs in the financial statements 
On the one hand, the usefulness of APMs is widely acknowledged. Reporting on APMs may 
provide insight into the management of the entity and management’s views on performance. 
Including the APMs in the primary statements may also make it easier for users to reconcile 
management commentary with reported figures in the IFRS financial statements.  

On the other hand, including APMs within the financial statements could increase clutter, reduce 
comparability across entities and potentially confuse users. Another concern that has recently 
received renewed attention is related to the potential for misuse of APMs, in that APMs 
sometimes seem to be designed to detract attention from bad news. 

Some regulators have already responded to these concerns by issuing guidance on the use of 
APMs outside the financial statements. This topic is addressed separately in the next section.  
The IASB is also addressing the APM issue in its two currently active projects on Principles of 
Disclosure and Primary Financial Statements. 

 

 

                                                   
23 ”Primary Financial Statements”, IFRS website, http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-Projects/Performance-
Reporting/Pages/default.aspx. 
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3.5 APMs outside the financial statements  
Following widespread concern about the increasing use and potential misuse of APMs in corporate 
reporting, several regulators have recently published new or revised guidance on APMs. 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - IOSCO - Guidelines on 
non-GAAP measures (APM) 
outside the financial statements 

 The ESMA in October 2015, and the International 
Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) in 
June 2016, published separate guidelines on non-
GAAP financial measures24 in regulated financial 
information. These two sets of guidelines are 
generally aligned in terms of scope and content. 
Local regulators across many jurisdictions have 
issued similar guidelines. Annual reports and half-
year interims are encompassed by the statement, 
as are any voluntary interim reports. However, the 
guidelines do not apply to the financial statements 
of these reports, only to information reported 
outside of the financial statements.  

While acknowledging the usefulness of APMs,  
some expect tougher and more-observable actions 
from regulators.25 Accordingly, readers should 
consider their specific facts and circumstances 
together with requirements in their applicable 
regulations in order to understand if those practices
could be used in enhancing their communication 
effectiveness. Interestingly, some preparers are 
concerned that the guidelines on APMs are too 
strict, in that rigidity is at odds with the purpose of 
APMs and that standardisation of APMs is reducing 
the relevance of financial reports26. 

The IOSCO guidelines require that: 

• Issuers or persons responsible for the 
prospectus should disclose the definitions of all 
APMs used, in a clear and readable way. APMs 
disclosed should be given meaningful labels 
reflecting their content and basis of calculation 
in order to avoid conveying misleading 
messages to users. 

• A reconciliation of the APM to the most directly 
reconcilable line item, subtotal or total 
presented in the financial statements of the 
corresponding period should be disclosed, 
separately identifying and explaining the 
material reconciling items. 

• APMs should be accompanied by comparatives 
for the corresponding previous periods. In 
situations where APMs relate to forecasts or 
estimations, the comparatives should be in 
relation to the last historical information 
available. Reconciliations for all comparatives 
presented should also be presented. 

• The definition and calculation of an APM should 
be consistent over time. 

 

 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - FRC - Corporate Reporting 
Thematic Review on APMs 

 European regulators have already taken 
decisions to enforce these guidelines. For 
instance, certain European regulators have 
uncovered the following unacceptable practices:
• The definition of measures used in the 

financial report (e.g., “items affecting 
comparability” or “one-off items”) were not 
disclosed or disclosures were not 
sufficiently precise. 

• Items presented as “one-off effects” 
appear to be recurring items based on 
other information provided in the financial 
report. 

In November 2016, the FRC published the 
Corporate Reporting Thematic Review on APMs,27 
in which the results of a review of a sample of 20 
listed entities against principles in the ESMA 
guidelines were published. As a result of its 
research, the FRC has urged entities to consider 
whether the explanations they have given for using 
APMs properly reflect why they believe such 
additional information is useful to investors and 
other users of their accounts. The FRC also 
expressed concern that entities may not appreciate 
the importance of explaining any changes in the 
APMs they use or in their definition. 

 

                                                   
24 IOSCO Statement No. FR/2016, Statement On NON-GAAP Financial Measures, The Board of the International 
Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO), June 2016 (accessed via 
https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD532.pdf) and ESMA Guidelines No. ESMA/2015/1415en, ESMA 
Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures, European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA), 5 October 
2015 (accessed via https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/2015/11/2015-esma-
1609_esma_public_statement_-_improving_disclosures.pdf). Local regulators, such as SEC, have similar guidelines. 
25 CFA Institute, Bridging the Gap: Ensuring Effective Non-Gaap and Performance Reporting, November 2016. 
26 “Reporting standards too rigid, says Group of 100“, Edmund Tadros, Australian Financial Review, 18 January 2017.
27 ”Corporate Reporting Thematic Review, Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)”, Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC), November 2016 (accessed via https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Corporate-Reporting-
Review/Improved-reporting-of-alternative-performance-meas.pdf). 
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Also, the US SEC has questioned the exclusion of individual items (e.g., acquisition-related 
expenses) in prominently presented non-GAAP measures where it does not seem to be 
appropriate. These examples demonstrate that it is even more important for entities to ensure 
transparency on APMs and to avoid misleading lables that do not reflecting the content. 

The extracts presented below were prepared and presented before the IOSCO guidelines had 
become effective. More representative examples are expected to be published in the near future. 
However, examples of reporting practices reflecting the principles on which the guidelines are 
based have already been observed in practice. For example, some entities provide detailed 
reconciliations of key APMs with reported IFRS figures (e.g., see Extract 3.5.1). 
 

Extract 3.5.1a ARM Holdings plc (2015) UK
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Extract 3.5.1b ARM Holdings plc (2015) UK
 

 

 
 

 

Commentary 
Page 5 of ARM Holdings’ 2015 Strategic Report summarises eight performance indicators, including 
normalised profits before tax, normalised diluted earnings per share and normalised net cash generated 
as presented in Extract 3.5.1a. There is a clear cross reference to page 55 (see Extract 3.5.1b), where 
the concept of “normalised” is explained in terms of excluding various items that are reported under 
IFRS. On the same page, there is also a detailed reconciliation to corresponding IFRS measures. 
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Some entities explicitly identify and explain the use of APMs, at least, on a general level. To align 
with the above mentioned guidelines, however, there should be an explanation of why each APM 
provides useful information, as well as the purposes for which the specific APM is used (see 
Extracts 3.5.2 to 3.5.5 for some examples of explanations of APMs provided in annual reports).  

Extract 3.5.2 Danone (2015) France
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 

In its 2015 annual report, Danone presents a one page section on “Financial indicators not defined by 
IFRS”. The section lists and explains in some detail nine APMs, including “Trading operating income” and 
“Recurring net income”. Both are measures of income before “Other operating income and expenses” 
and both thus exclude “Significant items that, because of their exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as 
inherent to its recurring activities”.  

“Trading operating income” and “Other operating income (expenses)” are both line items in the 
consolidated income statement. Details on “Other operating income (expenses)” are provided in a note  
to the financial statements (see Extract 3.4.9 to view Danone’s consolidated income statement and the 
relevant disclosure). 
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While the abovementioned guidelines were primarily prompted by the use of performance 
measures “adjusted” for (i.e., excluding the effect of) special items, the guidelines apply to all 
APMs including common measures such as EBIT and EBITDA (see Extracts 3.5.3 and 3.5.4 for 
two examples. See also Extract 3.5.5 for an example of explanations of several different APMs 
provided in an interim report). 

Extract 3.5.3 Orange SA (2015) France
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Commentary 
The 2015 annual report of Orange contains eight pages on “Financial aggregates not defined by IFRS”. 
“Data on comparable basis” takes up much of this space. Another section covers “Reported EBITDA and 
restated EBITDA”. The section explains these measures, their use by management and why Orange’s 
management believes that investors may find the measures useful. The section also provides 
reconciliation to net income as presented in the financial statements. 
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Extract 3.5.4 BT Group (2016) UK
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Commentary 
One part of the BT Group’s 2016 Strategic Report (part of its annual report for the financial year ending 
March 2016) focuses on the Group’s performance in terms of a number of key performance measures. 
The first page of this section (page 93) includes a general discussion on the use of APMs, explains that 
the prefix “adjusted” denotes “before specific items” and also cross-references to a specification of these 
items. The text also emphasises that the measures are consistent with how management measures the 
Group’s financial performance and includes cross references to definitions and reconciliations which are 
provided in a separate section after the financial statements. The introduction to that section explains 
that management principally looks at “adjusted” figures and that management believes that this is 
relevant as “specific items are identified by virtue of their size, nature or incidence”, and also in reference 
to qualitative factors such as the frequency and predictability of occurrences.  

The section on EBITDA explains the use of this measure in terms of it being a common measure  
among investors and analysts to evaluate operating financial performance, particularly in the 
telecommunications sector. It also explains why management considers it to be a useful measure  
of operating performance. 
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While information on APMs is generally found at the back of most annual reports, after the 
financial statements, some entities integrate some of the information in the sections where  
the APMs are presented, for example, in the management commentary preceding the financial 
statements. This may enhance communication efficiency by enabling users to link the 
information to the APM, thus enhancing their understanding of the measures. Others find  
that an appendix of the APMs is the most efficient way of communicating the relevant 
information as grouping all the APM information in one place makes the navigation easer  
from a user perspective.  

Extract 3.5.5  
Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget SCA (Q3 2016) Sweden

 

 
 

 

Commentary 

Following the effective date of the ESMA guidelines, SCA provided the following table in the 2016 Q3 
report with information on a number of APMs.  
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3.6 Summary 
We identified tailoring as the way entities select information that is relevant to tell their “story”. 
Tailored information often allows users to look at the entity “through the eyes of management”; 
hence, the focus is on areas such as significant judgements and estimates, accounting policies, 
performance indicators, unusual transactions, and the net financial position. The extracts 
presented in this chapter illustrate the attempts by entities to achieve the objective described 
above. 

Standard setter and regulatory 
activity - SEC (US) 

 Entities that are about to embark on a project 
to tailor the information in their financial 
statements should always consider the key 
qualitative characteristics, such as 
completeness and neutrality, to avoid 
presenting information that one way or 
another is biased, and therefore misleading.  

As discussed, tailoring financial information by 
way of APMs is common in practice. However, 
regulators are concerned that APMs may be 
misleading, especially if presented without 
sufficient transparency. 

 

The SEC in the US has suggested that the following 
questions28 should be considered by entities when 
introducing APMs: 

• Why are you using the non-GAAP measure, and 
how does it provide investors with useful 
information?  

• Are you giving non-GAAP measures no greater 
prominence than the GAAP measures, as 
required under the rules?  

• Are your explanations of how you are using the 
non-GAAP measures – and why they are useful 
for your investors – accurate and complete, 
drafted without boilerplate? 

• Are there appropriate controls over the 
calculation of non-GAAP measures? 

 

 

   

                                                   
28 Mary Jo White, SEC Chair, speech on 9 December 2015 (https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/keynote-2015-aicpa-
white.html). 
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4. Challenges in enhancing communication effectiveness 
There is a perception that current financial reporting practices could be improved. This 
publication explores some ways to make IFRS financial statements more effective by discussing 
alternative ways to structure and tailor these statements.  

While we strongly encourage preparers to identify ways to enhance the communication 
effectiveness of their financial statements, entities should be aware that such measures usually 
give rise to a number of challenges, including, for example: 

• Many measures involve making difficult judgement; what one sees as less important, another 
might find highly relevant. 

• Restructuring and tailoring the financial statements may result in making them less 
comparable over time, as well as across entities. Comparability is an important enhancing 
characteristic of decision-useful financial information. 

• Entities need to assess how to comply with existing cultural and regulatory constraints. 

• All measures to improve communication effectiveness come at a cost. While these costs are 
often observable, related benefits to the reporting entities are often less direct. 

The objective of financial reporting is to provide decision-useful information to the stakeholders of 
the entity. Measures that enhance the communication effectiveness of the financial statements 
can improve decision-usefulness by, for example, allowing users easier access to the key factors 
determining the entity’s financial position and performance and tailoring the information to better 
reflect entity-specific circumstances. The ultimate goal is to decrease the cost of capital. As such, 
continually assessing how to improve communication effectiveness is, despite the challenges 
outlined above, worthwhile. Accordingly, entities would be required to strike the balance between 
relevance of information, the corresponding cost to prepare it, and comparability. 

Reporting entities may approach the objective of enhancing the communication effectiveness of 
their financial statements in many different ways. Instead of aiming to make all improvements at 
one point in time, it is sometimes advisable to adopt an incremental approach. Entities may, for 
example, choose to target one topic area at a time. This may reduce the costs and may also 
serve to more effectively educate interested parties throughout the improvement process. 

While this publication does not address the challenges in undertaking a project to improve 
communication effectiveness of financial statements, we note that it is generally advisable to: 

• Define overall objectives and specific areas that may need improvements 

• Develop an overall plan with a clear timeline 

• Focus on corporate reporting as a whole, not just the financial statements or investor 
communication 

• Enroll not only management support, but employee support across the organisation 

An entity should �engage with all internal and external interested parties during the process to 
ascertain that the relevance of the enhanced communication achieved and its costs remain 
balanced. 

To ensure not only that the initiative is successful, but also sustainable, it is important to embed 
the objective of communication effectiveness into the reporting entity’s financial reporting 
”DNA”. In other words, to achieve the objective of decision-useful information, it is essential that 
reporting entities have a process in place to regularly review and improve the communication 
effectiveness of their financial reporting.  

We hope the discussions in this publication will inspire preparers to undertake efforts to enhance 
the communication effectiveness of the financial statements. We believe that entities that 
embark on a communication effectiveness project will realise a variety of benefits, including 
more efficient reviews by executives and directors and greater investor confidence. 
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Appendix A – Current initiatives on enhancing 
communication effectiveness 
A number of standard setters and regulators are currently undertaking projects on enhancing 
communication effectiveness, including the following (in alphabetical order): 

Standard setter / Regulator Project / Publication Website 

Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) 

Rethinking the Path from an 
Objective of Economic Decision 

Making to a Disclosure and 

Presentation Framework 

http://www.aasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102
/c3/AASB_Essay_2013-1_08-
13_Disclosure_and_Presentation_Framework_Fi
nal.pdf 

Autorité des normes comptables 
(ANC) 

Proposal to simplify accounting 
obligations for “small listed 

companies” in Europe 

http://www.ifrs.org/Meetings/Documents/AC02
128.pdf 

Chartered Accountants Australia and 

New Zealand 

Noise, Numbers and Cut-through http://event.lvl3.on24.com/event/12/87/42/6/
rt/1/documents/resourceList1479485814008/
041546_futureincnoisenumbers.pdf?dummy=d
ummyBody 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Canada (CPA) 

Five Steps to Simplifying Financial 
Statements — Today 

https://www.cpacanada.ca/en/business-and-
accounting-resources/financial-and-non-
financial-reporting/international-financial-
reporting-standards-ifrs/publications/steps-to-
simplifying-financial-statements-today 

Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) 

Institute 

Financial Reporting Disclosures - 

Investor Perspectives on 
Transparency, Trust, and Volume 

http://www.cfapubs.org/doi/pdf/10.2469/ccb.v
2013.n12.1 

Enhanced Disclosure Task Force 

(EDTF) 

Enhancing the risk disclosures of 

banks 

http://www.fsb.org/wp-
content/uploads/r_121029.pdf?page_moved=1 

European Financial Reporting 

Advisory Group (EFRAG) 

Discussion-Paper - Towards a 

Disclosure Framework for the Notes 

http://www.efrag.org/Assets/Download?assetUr
l=%2Fsites%2Fwebpublishing%2FProject%20Doc
uments%2F169%2F130423_Disclosure_Framew
ork_-_feedback_stmt.pdf 

European Securities and Markets 
Authority (ESMA) 

Public Statement - Improving the 
quality of disclosures in the financial 

statements 

https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files
/library/2015/11/2015-esma-
1609_esma_public_statement_-
_improving_disclosures.pdf 

Consultation Paper - Consideration of 

materiality in financial reporting 

https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files
/library/2015/11/2011_373_.pdf 
 

Feedback Statement - Considerations 
of materiality in financial reporting 

https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files
/library/2015/11/2013-218.pdf 

Institute Of Chartered Accountants In 
England And Wales (ICAEW) 

Financial Reporting Disclosures: 
Market and Regulatory Failures 

 

http://www.icaew.com/-
/media/corporate/files/technical/financial-
reporting/information-for-better-markets/frd-
final.ashx 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

Scotland (ICAS) and New Zealand 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(NZICA) 

Losing the Excess Baggage https://www.icas.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0
017/2285/Losing-the-Excess-Baggage-ICAS.pdf 

International Accounting and 

Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) 

The Evolving Nature of Financial 

Reporting: Disclosure and its Audit 
Implications 

http://www.ifac.org/system/files/publications/e
xposure-drafts/IAASB-
Disclosures_Discussion_Paper.pdf 
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Standard setter / Regulator Project / Publication Website 

International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) 

Disclosure Initiative http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-
Projects/Disclosure-Initiative/Pages/Disclosure-
Initiative.aspx 

Materiality Practice Statement http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-
Projects/Disclosure-
Initiative/Materiality/Pages/Home.aspx 
 

Primary Financial Statements http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-
Projects/Performance-
Reporting/Pages/default.aspx 

International Integrated Reporting 

Committee (IIRC)  

The International Integrated 

Reporting Framework 

http://integratedreporting.org/resource/interna
tional-ir-framework/ 

International Organization of 

Securities Commissions (IOSCO) 

Principles for Periodic Disclosure by 

Listed Entities 

http://www.iosco.org/library/statements/pdf/st
atements-13.pdf 

Statement On NON-GAAP Financial 
Measures 

https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOS
COPD532.pdf 

Netherlands Authority for the 

Financial Markets (AFM) 

Scope and quality of disclosures https://www.afm.nl/en/professionals/doelgroep
en/effectenuitgevende-
ondernemingen/financiele-
verslaggeving/publicaties 

New Zealand Financial Markets 

Authority (FMA) 

How to Improve Financial Statements https://fma.govt.nz/assets/Reports/141101-
Quality-Financial-Reporting-How-To-Improve-
Financial-Statements2014.pdf 

UK Financial Reporting Council (FRC) 

 

Accounting policies and integration 
of related financial information 

https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-
Work/Publications/Financial-Reporting-
Lab/Accounting-policies-and-integration-of-
related-fin.pdf 

Clear & Concise https://frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Key-projects/Clear-
Concise.aspx 

Cutting Clutter https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Codes-
Standards/Accounting-and-Reporting-
Policy/Cutting-Clutter.aspx 

Digital Present https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-
Work/Publications/Financial-Reporting-Lab/Lab-
Project-Report-Digital-Present.pdf 

Financial Reporting Lab https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Codes-
Standards/Financial-Reporting-Lab.aspx 

Louder than Words https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Codes-
Standards/Accounting-and-Reporting-
Policy/Cutting-Clutter/Background.aspx 

UK Department for Business, Energy 
& Industrial Strategy 

The future of narrative reporting https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/
the-future-of-narrative-reporting-a-further-
consultation 

US Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (FASB) 

Disclosure Framework http://www.fasb.org/cs/ContentServer?c=FASB
Content_C&pagename=FASB%2FFASBContent_C
%2FProjectUpdatePage&cid=1176156344894 

Financial Performance Reporting http://www.fasb.org/cs/ContentServer?c=FASB
Content_C&pagename=FASB%2FFASBContent_C
%2FProjectUpdatePage&cid=1176164178963 
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Appendix B - Table of extracts 
A complete inventory of all extracts used in this publication is presented in the table below in 
alphabetical order of the reporting entity. All references to the websites are hyperlinked in the 
electronic version. 

Entity Reporting 
Year 

Country Extract No. Website/Hyperlink 

AB SKF 2015 Sweden 2.1.4 http://www.skf.com/irassets/sites/default/files/
agm/skf-annual-report-2015_20160308.pdf 

AB Volvo 2015 Sweden 2.1.3 
2.4.1 
3.3.3 

http://www.volvogroup.com/content/dam/volvo
/volvo-group/markets/global/en-
en/investors/reports-and-presentations/annual-
reports/Volvo-Group-Annual-and-Sustainability-
Report-2015_ENG.pdf 

Airbus Group SE 2015 Netherlands 2.1.1 http://www.airbusgroup.com/int/en/investors-
shareholders/Annual-reports-and-registration-
documents.html 

Akzo Nobel N.V.  2015 Netherlands 3.4.10 http://www.report.akzonobel.com/2015/ar/serv
icepages/downloads/files/akzonobel_report15_e
ntire.pdf 

Amcor Limited 2016 Australia 2.2.1 
3.1.1 
3.3.1 

https://www.amcor.com/CorporateSite/media/A
nnual-reports/Amcor_Annual_Report_2016.pdf 

ARM Holdings plc  2015 UK 3.5.1 https://www.arm.com/company/investors/legac
y-financials 

Brunello Cucinelli SpA 2016 interim Italy 3.4.7 http://investor.brunellocucinelli.com/yep-
content/media/Relazione_Finanziaria_Semestral
e_al_30_giugno_2016.pdf 

BT Group plc 2016 UK 3.2.1 
3.4.4 
3.5.4 

http://www.btplc.com/Sharesandperformance/A
nnualreportandreview/pdf/2016-Annual-
Report.pdf 

Bulten AB 2015 Sweden 2.3.5 http://mb.cision.com/Main/405/9955992/5012
37.pdf 

Casino, Guichard-
Perrachon S.A.  

2015 France 2.3.4 
3.4.11 

https://www.groupe-casino.fr/en/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2016/06/CASINO_DRF
_2015_VA.pdf 

Danone 2015 France 2.1.5 
3.4.9 
3.5.2 

http://www.danone.com/fileadmin/user_upload/
Investisseurs/Company_s_Reports/2015/ENG/D
DR_DANONE_2015_EN.pdf 

Dong Energy A/S 2015 Denmark 2.4.5 http://assets.dongenergy.com/DONGEnergyDoc
uments/com/Investor/Annual_Report/2015/don
g_energy_annual_report_en.pdf 

ENEL SpA 2015 Italy 3.4.12 https://www.enel.com/content/dam/enel-
com/governance_pdf/reports/annual-financial-
report/2015/Annual_Report_2015.pdf 

ENI SpA 2015 Italy 3.1.4 https://www.eni.com/docs/en_IT/enicom/public
ations-archive/publications/reports/reports-
2015/Annual-Report-On-Form-20-F-2015.pdf 

Flight Centre Travel 
Group Limited 

2016 Australia 2.4.3 http://www.fctgl.com/sites/fctgl.com/files/01%
20FLT%20FY16%20Annual%20Report.pdf 

Flughafen München 
GmbH 

2015 Germany 3.4.1 http://www.munich-
airport.de/media/download/general/publikation
en/en/ib2015.pdf 

Iberdrola SA 2015 Spain 3.3.4 https://www.iberdrola.com/wcorp/gc/prod/en_
US/inversores/docs/IA_CuentasAnualesConsolid
adas2015.pdf 

IMI plc 2015 UK 2.2.2 
3.1.3 
3.4.5 

http://www.imiplc.com/~/media/Files/I/IMI/annu
al-reports/IMI-ARA-2015.pdf 

Inditex SA 2015 Spain 3.4.2 http://www.inditex.com/documents/10279/208
409/Inditex_+Annual_Report_2015_web.pdf/d3
501c55-8e8f-4936-b8d8-0fc47a543c93 

ITV plc 2015 UK 3.1.2 http://ar2015.itvplc.com/assets/pdf/ITV_2015_
Annual_Report.pdf 
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Entity Reporting 
Year 

Country Extract No. Website/Hyperlink 

National Grid plc 2015/ 2016 UK 2.4.2 
2.4.4 
3.3.2 
3.4.6 

http://investors.nationalgrid.com/~/media/Files
/N/National-Grid-IR/reports/2016/national-grid-
plc-annual-report-and-accounts-2015-16.pdf 

Orange SA 2015 France 2.3.1 
3.5.3 

https://www.orange.com/en/content/download/
36161/1131283/version/2/file/Orange%20-
%20DDR%202015_VA.pdf 

Poste Italiane SpA 2015 Italy 2.1.2 http://www.posteitaliane.post/resources/editori
ale/pdf/En/Annual-Report-2015.pdf 

Securitas AB 2015 Sweden 2.3.3 
3.4.13 

http://www.securitas.com/globalassets/com/file
s/annual-
reports/en/securitas_ar2015_eng_printed_low_
res_20160330.pdf 

Sligro Food Group 
N.V. 

2015 Netherlands 2.3.2 http://www.sligrofoodgroup.nl/upload/133bf10
7-ce71-4b40-9627-
33a907b6300a_Annual%20report%202015%20
EN.pdf 

Svenska Cellulosa 
Aktiebolaget SCA 

2015 
 
 

Q3 2016 

Sweden 
 

3.4.8 
 
 
3.5.5 

http://www.sca.com/Documents/en/Annual_Rep
orts/sca-annual%20report-eng-
2015.pdf?epslanguage=en 
 
http://www.sca.com/Documents/en/Reports/20
16/Q3/SCA-Report-Q3-2016-ENG.pdf 

Teleperformance SE 2015 France 2.1.6 https://www.teleperformance.com/media/2567
554/ddr-2015-ev-final.pdf 

Valeo Group 2015 France 3.4.3 http://www.valeo.com/medias/upload/2016/02
/82815/consolidated-financial-statement-
december-31-02-18-2016-05-50-pm.pdf 

Vodafone Group plc 2016 UK 3.2.2 http://www.vodafone.com/content/annualrepor
t/annual_report16/downloads/vodafone-full-
annual-report-2016.pdf 

Wesfarmers Limited 2016 Australia 3.1.5 http://www.wesfarmers.com.au/docs/default-
source/reports/2016-annual-
report.pdf?sfvrsn=8 
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